FILED



CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT ONE

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

APPEAL# 22 AP 1202

22 AP 1203

Aman Deep Singh,

22 AP 1204

Defendant - Appellant.

On Appeal From Orders Entered in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, Judge Jack Davila, Presiding, Denying Various Post-Dismissal Motions.

(L.C. #17CT341, 17CM3327, 18CM3479)

APPELLANT BRIEF IN CHIEF

Aman Deep Singh
Defendant – Appellant

Brief of Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1.Does a judgment for court appointed attorney fees levied against an indigent criminal defendant have to be vacated if all charges are dismissed? The trial court answered no.
- 2.If criminal charges are dismissed due to a statute of limitations, should the dismissal be with prejudice? The trial court answered no.
- 3.Is initiating a subsequent proceeding in deliberate disregard of issue preclusion a contempt of court towards the earlier judgment? The trial court answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is welcome but likely not necessary. Publication is recommended because the issues above are novel in the sense they have never been directly addressed before in published cases.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On 02/24/2017, the State of Wisconsin filed a misdemeanor case against Singh for one count of third offense OWI. [R3] While this case was pending, on 09/12/2017, the State filed a second misdemeanor case, alleging another third offense OWI and a bail jumping. [R1 in 22AP1203] While those two cases were pending, on 10/28/2018, the State filed a third case, alleging yet another third offense OWI and two counts of bail jumping. [R1 in 22AP1204] In all three OWI cases, the alleged prior offenses were a 2005 OWI conviction in Dane County and a 2001 Illinois Implied Consent blood test refusal. All three cases were informally joined for disposition in the circuit court. Singh was determined to be indigent by the State Public Defender and counsel was appointed. [R9]

On 11/13/2018, Singh's attorney at the time, Patrick Wait, orally moved to withdraw. [R43] The court permitted Attorney Wait to withdraw, but instead of referring the case back to the SPD to appoint successor counsel, Judge Kies

appointed Edward Hunt to represent Singh at county expense with Singh to reimburse the county. [R43, R19] Two weeks later, Singh moved to proceed *pro se*. [R21] On 03/11/2019, the court signed an order directing the clerk of circuit court to pursue reimbursement against Singh for attorney costs. [R26]

Meanwhile on 02/15/19, Singh filed a motion which among other claims, argued that the repeater allegation should be dismissed because it is unconstitutional to count blood test refusals as prior offenses for OWI sentence enhancement. [R25] The State filed a response. [R27] A motion hearing was held. [R39] The trial court denied the motions. [R30].

Singh filed a motion for reconsideration on the prior offenses issues on 07/03/2019. [R35] The State filed a response on 10/28/2020. [R45] Following a motion hearing, the motion for reconsideration was orally denied by the trial court on 12/18/2020. [R66] In April 2021, this court issued a published decision in *State v. Forrett*, 2021 WI App 31, holding that the counting of blood test refusals for OWI sentence enhancement indeed was unconstitutional. Following *Forrett*, Singh filed a motion to dismiss. [R49] In the motion, Singh argued as he had in the earlier motions that after *Forrett*, the earlier refusal could not count as a prior offense so his third offense OWI charges had to be amended to a civil OWI first (since the other alleged 2005 prior was outside the 10 year lookback window for second offense OWI); but since the statute of limitations for amending to a OWI 1st had expired, the charges must be dismissed outright. The State filed a response. [R45] A motion hearing was held on 10/14/21. [R78] The trial court granted Singh's motion to dismiss in court on 02/17/22. [Transcript filed as R76 in 22AP1204]

Milwaukee Assistant District Attorney William Ackell informed Singh's counsel at the time, Nelida Cortes, that he would pursue first offense OWI charges against Singh in municipal court anyways and has so far successfully encouraged municipal officials to file OWI 1st citations against Singh in the Hales Corners and Greenfield matters. On 04/01/2022, Singh filed three motions in the trial court. First, Singh moved for return of bail funds. [R51] Second, Singh moved for the

Case 2022AP001202 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-05-2022 Page 5 of 12

judgment for attorney fees be vacated. [R52] Third, Singh moved for the court to issue show cause orders against ADA Ackell and others as part of a remedial sanctions for contempt of court petition. [R53] The trial court granted the first motion but denied the second and third in a written order. [R55] Singh filed a timely notice of appeal. [R65]

Singh also filed a motion to reconsider the attorney fees. [R57] Singh filed a motion to reconsider the contempt issue as well as an amended motion for remedial sanctions. [R58, R59] Singh also filed an additional motion to modify the dismissal without prejudice to with prejudice. [R56] The State filed a response to all motions. [R70]. Singh filed a reply. [R74] The trial court issued a written decision denying all motions. [R80] Singh filed a timely notice of appeal from this second order. [R99 in 22AP1204] All appeals have been consolidated for disposition in this court.

ARGUMENT

I. THE JUDGMENT FOR COURT APPOINTED ATTORNEY FEES SHOULD BE VACATED BECAUSE HE WAS IMPROPERLY DENIED SPD REPRESENTATION AND BECAUSE THE CHARGES WERE DISMISSED.

Singh makes two arguments for why the judgment to pay attorney fees should be vacated. In the original motion, Singh argued that he was improperly shifted from the State Public Defender to the court appointed counsel track. [R52] In its decision denying this motion, the trial court concluded there was no requirement for the court to send Singh back to the SPD for appointment of successor counsel. [R55]

Singh moves the court to take judicial notice of the *amicus* brief filed on behalf of the SPD by Katie York on 08/20/2021 in Appeal # 19AP221 (State v. Nhia Lee). Singh quotes from that brief here and adopts the passage as his own argument. "The SPD, alone, was given the authority to appoint cases for SPD-eligible clients. Wis. Stat. §§ 977.05(1)&(5)(a), 977.08(1). However, there are circumstances where the SPD is not authorized to appoint counsel but the client is

still indigent, therefore the court is permitted to appoint counsel at county expense. See State v. Dean, 163 Wis. 2d 503, 511, 471 N.W.2d 310 (Ct. App. 1991). The most common example is where a criminal defendant does not meet the SPD's statutorily mandated eligibility standards, but is still considered indigent. Id."

Through the statutes creating the SPD, the legislature gave the SPD sole authority to appoint counsel for SPD eligible defendants. Only in situations where the SPD is unable or unwilling to assign counsel does the court appointed track come into play. There is nothing in the transcript [R43] explaining why Judge Kies did not simply send Singh back to the SPD for successor counsel after allowing Attorney Wait to withdraw. Singh should not be facing an additional attorney fee judgment from the county when the SPD would have appointed successor counsel.

The second argument Singh made (in the reconsideration motion) for vacating the judgment is that there is no authority to order costs against an indigent defendant in a case where all charges have been dismissed. [R57] The orders relating to court appointed counsel [R19, R26] specify that costs would be recovered under sec. 973.06. However, that is a sentencing statute that only comes into play after a defendant has been convicted. It does not apply in cases where all charges were dismissed. In its response, the State conceded that costs should not have been levied against Singh. [R70]

Despite the State's concession, the trial court denied the motion to vacate the judgment for costs anyways. [R80] The trial court reasoned that because this argument was different from the one Singh had made in his original motion to vacate the judgment, that it was beyond the scope of a reconsideration motion. This is error in two ways. First, Singh is pro se so the trial court should have looked to the substance of the motion instead of denying relief based on labeling. See Amek bin-Rilla v. Israel, 113 Wis. 2d 514, 521, 335 N.W.2d 384 (1983). Second, there is no rule that new grounds cannot be raised in a motion for reconsideration. In fact, the opposite is true. What is not permitted are reconsideration motions that raise the same issues. Only those reconsideration motions that do actually raise

new issues are appealable. See *Harris v. Reivitz*, 142 Wis. 2d 82, 88, 417 N.W.2d 50 (Ct. App. 1987).

II. THE DISMISSAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE ORDER SHOULD BE AMENDED TO WITH PREJUDICE.

A. DISMISSALS FOR A VIOLATION OF A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ARE NECESSARILY WITH PREJUDICE.

Relying on State v. Braunsdorf, 98 Wis. 2d 569, 572, 297 N.W.2d 808 (1980), the trial court concluded there is no authority to dismiss a criminal case with prejudice prior to the attachment of jeopardy other than for a violation of the constitutional right to a speedy trial. [R80] That reasoning seems to be in conflict with State v. Kollross, 2019 WI App 30, 388 Wis. 2d 135, 931 N.W.2d 263, where this court remanded an interlocutory appeal "with directions that the State's prosecution be dismissed with prejudice due to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations." Id at ¶ 12. Braunsdorf only dealt with the question of whether trial courts have *inherent authority* to dismiss with prejudice. Statutes of limitations, by their very nature, provide specific *statutory authority* to dismiss with prejudice.

"We agree with the court of appeals that the State's reliance on Braunsdorf is misplaced. In Braunsdorf there was no statute that authorized or required the dismissal of a criminal case. The Braunsdorf court held that in the absence of a statute, the "power to dismiss a criminal case with prejudice prior to jeopardy on nonconstitutional grounds is not ... an inherent power of the trial courts of this state." Because Braunsdorf addressed only a circuit court's inherent power to dismiss criminal cases, we conclude that it cannot be interpreted, as the State urges, to mean that a circuit court's authority to dismiss a criminal case is limited to a dismissal of the case without prejudice unless a statute explicitly authorizes a

dismissal with prejudice." *State v. Davis*, 2001 WI 136, ¶ 22, 248 Wis.2d 986, 637 N.W.2d 62.

Braunsdorf does not hold that pending prosecutions where a statute of limitations has expired cannot be dismissed with prejudice; the issue never came up in that case. Kollross on the other hand dealt with the question directly and demonstrates that cases dismissed due to an expiration of a statute of limitations are to be with prejudice. A dismissal for violation of a statute of limitations must necessarily be with prejudice since time only moves forward, not backwards. A statute of limitations, once expired, is impossible to 'unexpire'.

B. THE RECORD CONCLUSIVELY DEMONSTRATES THAT THE OWI CHARGES WERE DISMISSED FOR A VIOLATION OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

In Singh's pretrial Motion to Dismiss, he argued that Forrett required not counting the prior Illinois blood test refusal and without that, the OWI charge could only continue as a first offense. [R49] In that motion at #11 and 12, Singh also argued that the two-year statute of limitiations for first offense OWI had run. Singh asked the court to follow the reasoning in the unpublished but citable opinion in Waterford v. Pye, 2020 WI App 41, and hold that the two-year statute of limitations for first offense OWI was never tolled. Since the statute of limitations had expired, the OWI charges should all be dismissed outright instead of merely amended to first offense.

In its response, the State agreed that *Forrett* applied here and the third offense OWI charges had to be amended to first offense. The only objection the State raised was to whether the statute of limitations permitted the amendment to first offense charges. [R61 in 22AP1204] "While the State agrees that the 2001 implied consent conviction cannot be counted, the State does not agree that it should result in the defendant's four open OWIs being dismissed." [R61 in 22AP1204]

The motion hearing transcript is included in the record. [R78] Defense counsel points out that the parties are in agreement that the 2001 refusal cannot count as a prior offense. "I did see that in the State's response they conceded that we could not count the 2001 OWI implied consent conviction." (pg2, ln 15-19) Then defense counsel explains that not counting the refusal manes the charges have to be amended to first offense. "When we apply Forrett, Your Honor, and we look at how the penalty scheme must be affected, we're no longer looking at criminal cases. Now we are looking at civil matters." (pg4, ln 10-13) The State agrees. "I do agree with Counsel there in terms of we cannot count that implied consent conviction." (pg7, ln 22-24) "I agree with Counsel that there is a two-year statute of limitations to file civil forfeiture matters." (pg8, ln 22-24) "I think the main disagreement is whether or not the statute of limitations was violated." (pg19-20, ln 24-1)

On 02/17/21 orally in court, the trial court granted Singh's motion and dismissed all charges. The transcript of that hearing is included. [R76 in 22AP1204] "At that last court date, I had pretty much — you know, I let the parties know that I agreed with Attorney Cortes' analysis in the brief she submitted." (pg4, ln 2-4) "And so, given that set of circumstances and the fact that the Court does agree with the analysis that Attorney Cortes did in her motion to dismiss,..." (pg5, ln8-10) "So the Court is going to grant the Defense motion to dismiss. These cases will be dismissed without prejudice." (pg6, ln 5-6)

Based on this record, Singh fails to see how anyone could conclude anything other than that the OWI charges were dismissed because it would violate the statutes of limitations to allow further prosecution. Based on *Kollross*, when statutes of limitations are violated, the dismissals should be with prejudice. *Braunsdorf* is not violated because the dismissal with prejudice comes not from the trial court's inherent authority, but the statutory authority contained with the statute of limitations itself. A dismissal for violation of a statute of limitations must necessarily be with prejudice since time does not move backwards, only forward.

C. AT THIS POINT, THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR MISDEMEANOR THIRD OFFENSE OWI HAS PERMANENTLY EXPIRED AS WELL WITH REGARD TO THESE INCIDENTS.

Because the trial court decided the motion solely based on *Braunsdorf*, it did not address Singh argument in reply that at this point the three-year statute of limitations for misdemeanors had expired as well. [R74] The tolling provision in sec. 939.74(3) cannot apply because these were never valid prosecutions since the criminal complaints never stated probable cause in the first place. Also, the sec. 939.74(3) tolling provision would not apply in the future if the State tried to refile third offense charges for these incidents but allege different prior offenses because it would no longer be the 'same act'.

In sum, the statute of limitations precluded amending these charges to first offense OWI so the trial court granted Singh's motion to dismiss. Furthermore, the three-year misdemeanor statute of limitations for this OWI has now expired as well and this prosecution would not legally toll it. Since the statute of limitations now wholly prevents any further prosecution for these OWIs, the dismissal orders should be with prejudice.

III. FURTHER MUNICIPAL PROSECUTIONS FOR OWI WITH REGARD TO THESE INCIDENTS ARE IN CONTEMPT OF THE DISMISSAL ORDER.

In his original motion for remedial sanctions [R53] along with his amended motion for sanctions [R58 and R59], Singh alleged that the dismissal orders in these cases have issue preclusive effect regarding whether further municipal court prosecutions for first offense OWI violate the statute of limitations. Because Singh seeks remedial sanctions against non-parties for contempt of court, Singh followed the procedure outlined in *Kroll v. Bartell*, 101 Wis.2d 296, 302, 304 N.W.2d 175 (Ct.App.1981). Specifically, Singh petitioned the trial court to issue an order to show cause to the non-parties which Singh could then perform service on them to make them parties in the contempt special proceeding.

Case 2022AP001202 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-05-2022 Page 11 of 12

In its decisions denying an order to show cause as well as the reconsideration, the trial court concluded the threshold issue here is whether the dismissal orders have preclusive effect on further municipal prosecutions. [R55 and R80] The trial court then determined the dismissal orders did not have preclusive effect because the dismissals were without prejudice. The trial court also noted that Singh can simply argue the issue preclusion issue in the municipal prosecutions.

The trial court erred because it misstates the standard. Wis. Stat. 785.01(1) provides the definition. ["Contempt of court" means intentional: (b)Disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a court."] The dismissal orders do not preclude the filing of municipal prosecutions, but they do have issue preclusive effect as far as relitigating the statute of limitations. As Singh explains especially in his motion for reconsideration [R58], dismissals without prejudice are final and appealable by the State under Wis. Stat. 974.05, which the State did not do here. Because municipalities are considered privies of the State, issues decided against the State in a criminal prosecution may have preclusive effect against municipalities seeking to relitigate the same issues in municipal court. See Karlin v. State, 47 Wis.2d 452, 459, 177 NW2d 318 (1970). The issue of whether the statute of limitations for first offense OWI was fully litigated here and decided in favor of Singh, as the discussion in the previous section amply demonstrates. There have been no intervening changes in the law. All preconditions for applying issue preclusion on the question of whether the statute of limitations has passed for first offense OWI are present.

Therefore, while dismissal orders do not legally prevent the named contemnors from filing new first offense OWI charges against Singh in various courts across Wisconsin regarding these incidents, the dismissal order does preclude them from arguing that the statute of limitations has not expired. And yet that is exactly what the named contemnors have been doing in those municipal prosecutions, arguing that the statute of limitations has not expired after the trial court held against them that it did. What is the purpose of filing these municipal

OWI prosecutions would violate the statute of limitations? The sole purpose is harass Singh by forcing him to repeatedly make court appearances in various courts and repeatedly relitigate the same statute of limitations issue that was determined in Singh's favor by the dismissal order here. This is plainly disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the trial court's dismissal order on statute of limitations grounds. The contemnors are behaving as though the trial court's statute of limitations based dismissal order never existed. Singh is aggrieved as a result by this contempt by having to repeatedly litigate the same issue over and over.

III. CONCLUSION

Singh requests this court reverse the trial court orders, and remand with directions to vacate the judgment for attorney fees, modify the dismissal order to with prejudice, and issue show cause orders against the named contemnors for continuing contempt of court.