Brief of Respondent

Filed 01-20-2023

Page 1 of 15

FILED 01-20-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case Nos. 2022AP001202, 2022AP001203, & 2022AP1204-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

AMAN DEEP SINGH,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from Orders Entered in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, Judge Jack Davila, Presiding, Denying Various Post-Dismissal Motions

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Katrina Voge Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1119489 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ISSUES PRESENTED

The State re-frames the issues presented slightly:

1. Does Wisconsin Statute § 973.06(1)(e) require defense attorney's fees be paid if the case is dismissed?

Trial court answered yes. This Court should find that Wis. Stat. § 973.06(1)(e) only requires defense attorney's fees be paid as part of a criminal sentence.

2. Did the trial court properly dismiss Singh's case without prejudice?

Yes.

This Court should answer: yes.

3. Did the trial court properly dismiss Singh's motion for remedial sanctions?

Yes.

This Court should answer: yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on the issues. See Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(1)(b). Further, as a matter to be decided by one judge, this decision will not be eligible for publication. See Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 18, 2017, at approximately 8:22 p.m., Hales Corners Police were dispatched to a two car accident in the Village of Hales Corners. (1202R3:2)1. Officers investigated the scene and based upon their observations, training, and

¹ For clarity, the State differentiates the three cases by the last four number of their appellate case number.

5

experience they believed Mr. Singh to be intoxicated. (1202R3:2). Singh was conveyed to St. Luke's Hospital where a sample of his blood was drawn for chemical analysis. (1202R3:2). An analysis conducted by Stephanie Weber shows that Singh's blood contained 0.20 g/100mL% weight of alcohol. (1202R3:2).

At that time, Singh had two prior Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant (OWI) convictions or revocations: 1) a 2005 OWI from Dane County, and 2) a 2001 Implied Consent violation from Illinois. (1202R3:2-3). Under the law applicable at the time of charging, these two occasions meant that the current incident could be charged as an OWI-third offense.

The State filed a complaint in 2017CT000341 on February 24, 2017, charging Singh with OWI-third and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (PAC)-third offense. (1202R3). Singh made his initial appearance on the same day, where he was released under the conditions of bail, including that he not commit any new crimes. (1202R4).

On September 11, 2017, Greenfield Police were dispatched to Red Robin for an individual sleeping in a running vehicle. (1203R31:2). Officers investigated the scene and based upon their observations, training, and experience they believed Mr. Singh to be intoxicated. (1203R31:2). Singh was conveyed to St. Luke's Hospital where a sample of his blood was drawn for chemical analysis. (1203R31:3). The results showed that Singh's blood contained 0.232 g/100mL% weight of alcohol. (1203R31:3).

The State filed a criminal complaint in 2017CM3327 on September 12, 2017. (1203R31). Therein, Singh was charged with OWI-third offense and misdemeanor bail jumping. Singh made his initial appearance on September 14, 2017, where he was released under the conditions of bail. (1203R4).

On October 27, 2018, Milwaukee Police were dispatched for a vehicle hazard blocking a lane of traffic. (1204R3:2). Officers investigated the scene and based upon their observations, training, and experience they believed Mr. Singh to be intoxicated. (1204R3:2-3). Singh was conveyed to

St. Luke's Hospital where a sample of his blood was drawn for chemical analysis. (1204R3:3). The results show that Singh's blood contained 0.236 g/100mL% weight of alcohol. (1204R3:3).

On October 28, 2018, the State charged Singh in 2018CM3479 with OWI-third offense and two counts of misdemeanor bail jumping. (1204R4).

Three years later, the cases were still pending, and Singh filed a motion to dismiss these cases on September 10, 2021. (1202R49). In the interim, this Court decided *State v. Forrett*, 2021 WI App 31 (Ct. App. 2021). This Court held that a refusal to submit to a warrantless blood draw could not count for OWI counting purposes. *Id.* Based on this decision, the trial court dismissed these cases without prejudice on February 17, 2022.

On April 01, 2022, Singh filed a Motion for Return of Bail Funds, Motion to Vacate Judgment, and Motion for Remedial Sanctions for Contempt of Court. (1202R51; 1202R52; 1202R53). On April 26, 2022, the trial court granted Singh's first motion and denied the following two in a written order. (1202R:55).

On July 06, 2022 Singh filed Motion to Modify the Dismissal Order to Dismissal with Prejudice, Motion to Reconsider Order Denying Singh's Motion to Vacate Order to Pay Attorney Fees, Motion to Reconsider Order Denying Singh's Motion for Remedial Sanctions, and Amended Motion for Remedial Sanctions. (1202R56; 1202R57; 1202R58; 1202R59). On September 29, 2022 the trial court denied all of Singh's motions.

On December 02, 2022, Singh filed this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case does not have any disputed facts. Therefore, the questions presented in this case consist only of questions of law, which this court reviews *de novo*, without deference to the trial court's determination. *See, e.g., Wisconsin Dep't of*

Revenue v. Van Engel, 230 Wis. 2d 607, 601 N.W.2d 830 (Ct. App. 1999).

ARGUMENT

I. The underlying cases against Singh were dismissed; therefore, the Court cannot use Wis. Stat. § 973.06(1)(e) to enforce payment of defense attorney's fees.

The State concedes that Singh was ordered to pay defense attorney's fees pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.06(1)(e). (1202R:19:1). The statute citation for the authority to pursue these costs relates to sentencing. A trial court may require repayment of certain attorney fees as part of a sentencing decision. See, e.g., Wis. Stat. §§ 973.06(1)(e) (attorney fees "payable to the defense attorney by the county or the state" may be ordered as an item of costs); 973.09(1g) (as a condition of probation, defendant may be required to "reimburse the county or the state, as applicable, for any costs for legal representation to the county or the state for the defense of the case").

However, such costs are taxable against Singh only as part of a sentence. *State v. Grant*, 168 Wis.2d 682, 683, 484 N.W.2d 370, 370 (Ct. App. 1992).² Since these cases were dismissed, the circuit court could not use Wis. Stat. § 973.06(1)(e) to enforce this cost. The decision requiring repayment must therefore be reversed.

-

² There are other times recognized by courts where the county must bear the cost of an appointed attorney. *See State ex rel. Chiarkas v. Skow*, 160 Wis. 2d 123, 141, 465 N.W.2d 625 (1991) (holding that counsel appointed "for the benefit of the court, not for the benefit of the individual... should be paid by the county"); *State ex rel. Dressler v. Circuit Ct. for Racine Cnty.*, *Branch 1*, 163 Wis. 2d 622, 633, 472 N.W.2d 532 (Ct. App. 1991) ("Where the service of counsel is indispensable to the efficient operation of the court, and the appointment of counsel is not for the benefit of the individual, the county of venue can be required to pay the compensation set by the court.").

II. The trial court properly dismissed Singh's cases without prejudice.

a. The trial court does not have authority to dismiss Singh's cases since jeopardy did not attach nor was Singh's constitutional right to a speedy trial violated.

The law is unambiguous in that "only section 976.05(1), Stats., gives trial courts the power to dismiss a case with prejudice. Otherwise, dismissals prior to the attachment of jeopardy are without prejudice." *State v. Braunsdorf*, 98 Wis. 2d 569, 574-75, 297 N.w.2d 808, 811 (1980). The only other avenue to dismiss with prejudice is where the defendant has been deprived of his constitutional speedy trial right. *See id*.³

There is no dispute that Singh was not serving a sentence; therefore, these were not cases where Wis. Stat. § 976.05 applied. The record is also quite clear that no jury or witnesses were sworn at a trial, so jeopardy did not attach. Consequently, the circuit court was without authority to dismiss Singh's cases with prejudice.

b. Kollross does not give the trial court authority to dismiss Singh's cases with prejudice.

Singh argues that *State v. Kollross*, 2019 WI App 30, 388 Wis. 2d 135, 931 N.W.2d 263 provides trial courts with "statutory authority" to dismiss with prejudice. (Singh's Br., 7).⁴ Therefore, "cases dismissed due to an expiration of statute of limitations are to be with prejudice." (Singh's Br., 8).

In *Kollross*, Kollross was arrested on May 28, 2011 for OWI. *State v. Kollross*, 2019 WI App 30 ¶ 2, 388 Wis. 2d 135, 137, 931 N.W.2d 263, 264. The case was initially prosecuted in the City of West Allis Municipal Court as an OWI- first offense. *Id.* Kollross made an initial appearance on July 18, 2011. *Id.* Following her conviction, Kollross appealed the matter to the Milwaukee County Circuit Court. *Id.* Because the City of West Allis failed to timely produce its witness for the

_

³ Singh has not made a claim of a violation of his speedy trial rights, so the State will not analyze the *Barker* factors. *See Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 530-32, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 2192-93, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972).

⁴ The State is using page number assigned by efiling.

scheduled court trial, the circuit court dismissed the matter without prejudice on April 17, 2013. *Id.* The citation was reissued and, following a motion for substitution of the municipal court judge, prosecution was reinitiated in Wauwatosa Municipal Court. *Id.*

While the May 28, 2011 OWI-first offense was pending, Kollross was arrested for another OWI offense in Washington County on January 26, 2012. *Id* at ¶ 3. The January 26, 2012 offense was charged as an OWI-first offense. *Id*. Kollross pled guilty in the Washington County matter and was convicted of OWI-first on July 11, 2014. *Id*. Consequently, the Wauwatosa Municipal Court dismissed the pending OWI-first citation for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Id*.

On February 5, 2015, the State issued a criminal complaint, charging Kollross with an OWI-second offense for the May 28, 2011 incident. Id at \P 4. Kollross moved to dismiss the complaint, alleging that the three-year statute of limitations for misdemeanor crimes as set forth in Wis. Stat. \S 939.74 had passed for the May 28, 2011 incident. Id. The statute provides as relevant:

(1) Except as provided in subs. (2) and (2d) and s. 946.88(1), prosecution for a felony must be commenced within 6 years and prosecution for a misdemeanor or for adultery within 3 years after the commission thereof. Within the meaning of this section, a prosecution has commenced when a warrant or summons is issued, an indictment is found, or an information is filed.

. . .

(3) In computing the time limited by this section, the time... during which a prosecution against the actor for the same act was pending shall not be included. A prosecution is pending when a warrant or a summons has been issued, an indictment has been found, or an information has been filed.

Wis. Stat. § 939.74

The State opposed the motion, arguing that the statute of limitations for the May 28, 2011 offense was tolled while the matter was pending. *Id*.

The circuit court denied Kollross's motion stating that a municipal ticket equated with a summons. Id at \P 10. This Court ordered that the State's prosecution be dismissed with prejudice because the statute of limitations for the offense to be charged in the circuit court had expired. Id at \P 12. This Court held that the statute of limitations applicable to the criminal proceedings was never tolled as to the commencement of OWI criminal proceedings in 2015. Id at \P 10.

Kollross is incompatible with the facts in front of us. In Kollross, the pending OWI offense was a non-criminal municipal citation that was in front of the municipal court. Consequently, there was no complaint or summons to file to begin to toll the time limits. In contrast, Singh's pending offenses were criminal charges that were in front of the circuit court. Wis. Stat. § 939.74 tolls the time limits for the criminal prosecution from the time the criminal complaint is filed. See Wis. Stat. § 939.74(3). In addition, the trial court found probable cause for each of Singh's OWI offenses.

Kollross is also inapplicable here because there was considerable delay in prosecuting Kollross's citation because the City of West Allis failed to adequately prepare for trial before the circuit court and the City of Wauwatosa did not promptly proceed. Kollross, 2019 WI App 30, ¶ 11. In this case, there was no delay by prosecution. There was a change in the law. This Court's decision in Forrett required Singh's criminal cases be dismissed and referred back to the municipal court since the State lacked the requisite prior convictions to make Singh's charges misdemeanors.

There may be an issue with the municipal statute of limitations but that issue was not in front of the trial court, nor is it an issue for this Court to decide.⁵ This Court cannot rule

-

⁵ The Supreme Court has consistently recognized that "a proceeding to enforce a municipal ordinance is a civil action." *State v. Thierfelder*, 174 Wis. 2d 213, 221, 495 N.w.2d 669, 673 (1993) (citing *Neenah v. Alsteen*, 30 Wis.2d 596, 601, 142 N.W.2d 232 (1966); *South Milwaukee v. Schantzen*, 258 Wis. 41, 43, 44 N.W.2d 628 (1950); *State ex rel. Keefe v. Schmiege*, 251 Wis. 79, 84, 28 N.W.2d 345

on the municipal citations because "[the municipal court has exclusive jurisdiction over an action in which a municipality seeks to impose forfeitures for violations of municipal ordinances of the municipality that operatives the court..." Wis. Stat. § 755.045(1); City of Cedarburg v. Hansen, 2020 WI 11, ¶ 26, 390 Wis. 2d 109, 120, 938 N.w.2d 463, 48, opinion modified on reconsideration, 2020 WI 45, ¶ 26, 391 Wis. 2d 671, 943 N.W.2d 544.

If the statute of limitations has run, then dismissal with prejudice is proper. In this case, the only statute of limitations at issue is the one for the criminal Operating While Intoxicated, which was tolled by the filing of the criminal complaints. Jeopardy did not attach to Singh's cases nor was there a violation of Singh's right to a speedy trial. The dismissal was without prejudice because there is no valid legal basis to dismiss these charges with prejudice. Therefore, the trial court properly dismissed Singh's cases without prejudice.

III. There is no order from which remedial sanctions would be appropriate, and issue preclusion should be decided by the municipal courts.

a. Remedial sanctions are improper here.

Remedial sanctions under Wis. Stat. § 785.03(1)(a) are sanctions imposed for the purpose of terminating a continuing contempt of court. Evans v. Luebke, 2003 WI App 207, ¶ 22, 267 Wis. 2d 596, 671 N.W.2d 304. The evidence must support findings that the contemnor engaged in intentional disobedience, resistance, or obstruction of the authority, process, or order of a court. Id. at ¶24. The circuit court was correct in its original decision on sanctions: "[t]he court's dismissal orders in these cases (without prejudice) did not preclude the filing of municipal OWI citations in Hales Corners, and therefore, the municipal citations do not amount to a contempt of court." (1202R55:5). Singh concedes that the trial court's "dismissal orders do not legally prevent the named contemnors from filing new first offense OWI charges against Singh in various courts across Wisconsin regarding these

(1947); *State v. Kramsvogel*, 124 Wis.2d 101, 117, 369 N.W.2d 145 (1985)). This is in contrast to the criminal proceeding commenced by the filing of a criminal complaint. *See* Wis. Stat. § 968.02(1).

12

incidents..." (Singh's Br., 11). Accordingly, the filing of municipal OWI citations was not in violation of the dismissal order – without prejudice – because it manifestly did not bar that action.

b. Issue preclusion should be directed to the municipal courts presiding over the OWI citations.

Singh argues that the trial court's dismissal without prejudice precludes prosecutors from arguing that the statute of limitations has not expired in the municipal courts. (Singh's Br., 11). This is the wrong forum to raise that argument. This is an issue for the municipal courts presiding over the OWI citations to decide.

Singh confuses the difference between the statute of limitations for the trial court and for the municipal court. The circuit court did not determine that further OWI-first offense prosecutions would violate the statute of limitations. The circuit court did not and could not make that determination, as previously stated, because the trial court does not have jurisdiction over OWI-first offenses. Singh fails to point in the record where the trial court allegedly ruled on the statute of limitations question for the municipal OWI citations. In addition, the trial court dismissed the cases without prejudice so prosecutors are within their rights to pursue citations for the OWI-first offenses.

There was no order from any court so no individual, or entity, could have violated an order that does not exist. If there is an issue of preclusion, then that is for the municipal court presiding over the OWI-first to decide. Consequently, there are no grounds for remedial sanctions.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the State respectfully requests the Court deny Singh's motions.